THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

RECEIVED

Doyet A. "Jack" Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

MAY 25 2016

SC Court of Appeals

Case Number: 2016-000140

---

The State of South Carolina ..... Respondent,

v.

Julie Ann Getson, Defendant, Christy Nimau, Georgia-Carolina Enterprises, Inc., Surety,  
and Accredited Insurance Co., Insurance Company,  
Of which Georgia-Carolina Enterprises, Inc. is the ..... Appellant

---

APPELLANT'S FINAL BRIEF

---

---

Aaron G. Walsh  
WalshLaw, PA  
P.O. Box 639  
Aiken, SC 29802  
803-642-9700; fax 803-644-6933  
SC Bar# 71222  
Attorney for Appellant

##

## ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THE (LACK OF) COSTS TO THE STATE, AND THE (LACK OF) EFFORTS OF LAW ENFORCEMENT TO LOCATE THE DEFENDANT WHEN ESTREATING DEFENDANT'S BOND IN FULL, AND NOT REMITTING ANY PORTION THEREOF?

### APPELLANT'S STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal of the trial court's estreatment in full of a five thousand dollar (\$5000.00) surety bond. On March 13, 2014, Appellant/surety, as agent for Insurance Company, posted that bond to secure Defendant's release pending trial (Bail Proceeding Form II, warrant 2014A0210200244; Record pp. 3-4) on one count of Forgery/Possession of Counterfeit Currency.

On March 16, 2015, Defendant having failed to appear for General Sessions Court in the County of Aiken, a Bench Warrant for her arrest was issued. The State does not dispute that the March 16, 2015 Bench Warrant was entered into the National Criminal Information Center (NCIC) database (NCIC # W133121477) in such a way that Defendant was only to be extradited from the states of South Carolina, Georgia and North Carolina.

In early February of 2015, prior to the issuance of the Bench Warrant, surety discovered that Defendant had left the State of South Carolina, and that the Crossville, Tennessee, Police Department had a counterfeit investigation centering on Defendant with active warrant(s). Surety further discovered that the Tennessee warrant(s) were not being placed into the NCIC. Surety began actively seeking Defendant in order to surrender her to the Aiken County Detention Center, and to seek to be relieved from bond.

In the course of seeking Defendant from April through June of 2015, surety located her at a residence in Lincolnton, North Carolina in May, and sent agents to unsuccessfully seek her recovery. Later they tracked Defendant to Carson City,

Nevada, then to Phoenix, Arizona, then in early June to a specific motel and address in Tulare County, California. It was presented to the Court, and was not disputed by the State in any way, that Surety was not allowed to conduct recovery operations in Arizona, Nevada or California, and that doing so would expose surety and/or its agents to criminal prosecution.

On June 2, 2015, having located Defendant in Tulare County, California, Surety entered into a recovery contract with a California Recovery Agent. California law provides a strict procedure for an out of state bondsman to seek recovery of a fugitive from California. Pursuant to the California Penal Code, the agent confirmed the hotel location, then arranged on June 3, 2015 for the submission of an Affidavit to the Superior Court of California, County of Tulare, who then issued an Order to issue a warrant for the arrest of Defendant.

Surety has done everything possible under the law, which was admitted by the State and commented on repeatedly by the trial Court. Despite the Order, the recovery agent in California has not successfully arrested Defendant. None of the above is disputed by the State.

On June 13, 2015, Surety wrote the Solicitor's Office, and provided them with detailed information about their efforts to recover Defendant, including information about Defendant and aliases she might use, and specific information about her location and known associates in California, along with contact information for the associates. As of that date, the State had specific, detailed information about Defendant's location, but did not update the NCIC to allow for extradition from

California, and the State has made no representation that law enforcement from South Carolina ever contacted California, or made any effort whatsoever to recover Defendant from California.

On July 9, 2015, the Defendant had not been located, and Solicitor filed a Notice of Forfeited Recognizance (Record p.5). Based upon that Notice, the Court entered a Conditional Order to Estreat Bond on the same date (Record, p.6). The Conditional Order set a hearing date for the matter to be heard by the Court. By the terms of the Conditional Order, the hearing was to be held pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-180, which holds “that upon cause, when a recognizance is forfeited from....unavoidable impediment and not from willful default, the court...may remit the whole or any part of the forfeiture as may be deemed reasonable.”

After a September 8, 2015 hearing, the Court entered a September 29, 2015 Final Order for Estreatment of Bond (Record pp. 7-8) by which the entire bond was estreated.

Appellant filed and served a Motion to Reconsider the Final Order for Estreatment of Bond (Record pp. 9-13), asserting that the Court should have remitted some portion of the estreatment. The Court allowed hearing on that Motion November 10, 2015. On December 28, 2015, the Court entered an Order Denying Surety’s Motion for Reconsideration (Record pp. 14-15). This Appeal followed.

## ARGUMENT

- I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO CONSIDER THE (LACK OF) COSTS TO THE STATE, AND THE (LACK OF) EFFORTS OF LAW ENFORCEMENT TO LOCATE THE DEFENDANT WHEN ESTREATING DEFENDANT'S BOND IN FULL, AND NOT REMITTING ANY PORTION THEREOF.

## AUTHORITY AND DISCUSSION OF AUTHORITY

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-170

S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-180

S.C. Code Ann. § 38-53-70

Ex Parte Polk; 354 S.C. 8; 579 S.E.2d 329 (Ct.App.2003)

State v. Boatwright, 310 S.C. 281; 423 S.E.2d 139 (1992)

While the defendant is released on bail, he is in the constructive custody of the bondsman. When the terms of the bond are breached, the bond is estreated by a conditional order. The bondsman is then entitled to notice and an opportunity to be heard to show cause as to why the estreatment order should not become final. Because the bond has already been estreated by the conditional order, the second hearing is to determine the amount, if any, to be remitted. Boatwright at 285-6 (internal citations omitted); S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-170 (1976).

In making the determination as to remission, § 38-53-70 of the South Carolina Code (2010) applies, reading in part:

“the court may direct that the judgment be remitted in whole or in part...if it appears that justice requires the remission of part or all of the judgment. **In making a determination as to remission of the judgment, the court shall consider the costs to the State or a county or municipality resulting from the necessity to continue or terminate the defendant's trial and the efforts of law enforcement officers or agencies to locate the defendant.**” (emphasis added).

The Court in Ex Parte Polk, 354 S.C. 8; 579 S.E.2d 329 (Ct.App.2003), *citing and adopting* Justice Toal’s dissent in State v. Boatwright, 310 S.C. 281; 423 S.E.2d 139 (1992), further determined that in applying § 38-53-70 to determine to whether, and to what extent, the bond should be remitted, the trial court is not limited to considering only the actual cost to the State, but should consider the following: (1) the purpose of the bond; (2) the nature and willfulness of the default; (3) any prejudice or additional expense resulting to the State. Polk at 12-13.

“The overriding purpose of requiring a criminal defendant to post bond before releasing the defendant from custody is to insure the defendant’s appearance in court. Bail is not a revenue measure[.]” Boatwright at 285. Justice Toal also noted that “South Carolina has long encouraged bondsmen to enter into bail contracts, in order to facilitate the release of defendants whose guilt has yet to be **determined and to relieve the state of the cost of providing for the defendants while in jail.**” Boatwright at 285 (emphasis added).

## FACTS AND ARGUMENT

It was error to estreat this bond without considering the lack of costs to the state, and to ignore that law enforcement has taken no efforts to recover the Defendant. It was not contested at any point that there had been no actual cost to the state. The solicitor agreed with that fact (Nov. 10 trans p. 10; Record p. 43), and the Court agreed (Nov. 10 trans. p. 6, 16; Record p. 39, 49).

It is also not contested by the State that law enforcement made absolutely no effort to locate Defendant. That is despite being presented by the Surety with detailed information about her location, and Surety taking all possible steps, including obtaining a California Order and warrant to arrest the Defendant. The State stipulated that the Bench Warrant for Defendant had been entered into NCIC with extradition only from Georgia and North Carolina. The State admits the low value of this case by saying that [Defendant] is “beyond the practical cost range of the State trying to get her” as it would likely cost more than \$5,000, and that the State would only go to Georgia or North Carolina to get [Defendant], as it “costs more to go get them than the case is worth[.]” (Nov. Trans p.11-12; Record pp. 44-45). There has been no prejudice to the State, who conceded that the prosecution of this case is not worth the cost of recovering Defendant from California. It is hard to reach any conclusion but that the State would rather have Surety’s \$5000.00 than the Defendant.

Appellant notes that at the September 8, 2015 hearing which yielded the

Final Order to Estreat, the State expressly represented that “if there’s something I can do to help extradite [Defendant], I’m here and I’ll do it.” (Sep. Trans p.8; Record p.35). It is not in dispute that after that hearing, the State did not change the NCIC entry to allow for extradition from California.

Surety believes that the State’s decision, (even after being notified by Surety that Defendant had been tracked, at great expense, to California, and that Surety had obtained an Order for her arrest, and of her probable location and the location of her known associates) not to enter the Bench Warrant into NCIC as extraditable from California demonstrates that getting Defendant to Court was never the State’s focus. The State conceded that extraditing Defendant would have yielded actual costs to the State.

Had Defendant been arrested in California, and extradited to South Carolina, *there would be costs to the State*, and so the estreatment would be supported by evidence of both costs and efforts of law enforcement. Instead, the State chose to avoid costs, and conceded that they chose not to recover Defendant by extradition, so there should have been remittance to Surety.

## CONCLUSION

The law and history of the State is for the bondsman to be a partner to the State in recovering defendants, not to be a source of revenue. The Legislature in § 38-53-70 bases the *bondsman's* financial liability on the *State's* costs and efforts, not the bondsman's. That at first seems inequitable, but the Legislature does not make mistakes, and the fairness is subtle but strong.

Where the State makes efforts to recover a Defendant, and expends costs to do so, (in effect doing the bondsman's job for them) it makes sense to pass those costs to the bondsman. That encourages bondsmen to take all reasonable efforts to locate the defendant before the state can; "the possible forfeiture of bond is incentive for sureties to ensure the appearance of the defendant." Polk at 11.

This case is the opposite. In terms of effort, the trial Court agreed the bondsman "can't do more than what he's done" (Nov. Trans p. 8; Record p. 41), had done "everything" (Nov. Trans p.9; Record p. 42) and had gone "beyond the call of duty," (Nov. Trans. p. 14; Record p. 47). At the same time, the State admits it has incurred no actual costs (in a case they admit has little value). The State has never disputed Appellant's position that Law Enforcement has taken no efforts to recover the Defendant. Appellant notes the State has not even "flipped a switch" in NCIC to seek extradition of the Defendant to South Carolina. Justice requires the Court to remit all or most of the estreated bond to Surety.



---

AARON G. WALSH  
P.O. Box 639  
Aiken, SC 29802  
(803) 642-9700  
SC Bar# 71222  
Attorney for Appellant

OTHER COUNSEL OF RECORD:

The Honorable Alan Wilson  
Attorney General for the State of South Carolina

V. Henry Gunter  
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549  
Columbia, S.C. 29211

J. Strom Thurmond, Jr.  
Second Circuit Solicitor  
PO Drawer 3368, Aiken SC 29802

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED  
MAY 25 2016  
SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Doyet A. "Jack" Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

Case Number: 2016-000140

The State of South Carolina ..... Respondent,

v.

Julie Ann Getson, Defendant, Christy Nimau, Georgia-Carolina Enterprises, Inc., Surety,  
and Accredited Insurance Co., Insurance Company,  
Of which Georgia-Carolina Enterprises, Inc. is the Appellant