STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM AIKEN COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
Doyet A. Early, III, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2016-000140

---

**RECEIVED**

MAR 23 2016

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA,

RESPONDENT,

v.

JULIE ANN GETSON,

DEFENDANT,

AND

CHRISTY NIMAU, GEORGIA-CAROLINA ENTERPRISES, INC., SURETY,  
AND ACCREDIT INSURANCE CO., INSURANCE COMPANY,  
APPELLANTS.

---

**INITIAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

V. HENRY GUNTER, JR.  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

J. STROM THURMOND, JR.  
Solicitor, Second Judicial Circuit

## STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

### I.

The circuit court properly estreated the defendant's bond where the defendant willfully failed to appear at the March 16, 2015 term of General Sessions, and the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in estreating the bond in full where the court carefully considered the required factors and where the amount of bond estreated was not arbitrary or capricious.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Julie Ann Getson was arrested in Aiken County in March of 2014 for forgery/possession of counterfeit currency. She was released on a \$5,000 surety bond with Christy Nimau signing as surety on behalf of Georgia-Carolina Enterprises. A Notice of Forfeited Recognizance was filed by the State on July 9, 2015, following Getson's failure to appear at the March 16, 2015 term of General Sessions Court. The court issued a Conditional Order to Estreat Bond on July 9, 2015.

On September 8, 2015, a hearing was held before the court for consideration of the Conditional Order to Estreat Bond and Notice of Forfeited Recognizance. At the September 8, 2015 hearing, the court noted Getson was still missing. Sep. 8 Tr. p. 4. Counsel for the surety stated that on February 6, 2015, they became aware warrants for Getson were issued in Crossville, Tennessee for passing counterfeit bills. Sep. 8 Tr. p. 4. Counsel noted that the surety had tracked Getson to Carson City, Nevada, Lincolnton, North Carolina, Phoenix Arizona, and Tulare, California. Sep. 8 Tr. p. 5. Counsel finally stated his belief Getson was still located in Tulare, California. Sep. 8 Tr. p. 5.

Counsel argued:

Now, this is when, really, my clients did everything that's possible: In California there's a procedure by which you have to take your bond, submit an affidavit to a magistrate, get an order from a magistrate to enforce that bond. All of that was done, your Honor, there in that county of Tulare, at relatively significant expense.

Sep. 8 Tr. p. 6. Counsel continued:

And South Carolina, for the reasons that are not mine to say, has not put into the NCIC to extradite this lady from California . . . And again, although we certainly can't - - we can't put that NCIC entry in to get her back on extradition from California, but it - - we're in a position that it seems that if really it was the recovery of Ms. Getson that was paramount, you know, that that entry might be made and that we could be talking

about paying the costs to bring her back instead of just simply estreating the cash when we know where she is, we've obtained a warrant to arrest her. Recognizing that she is not standing here, you know, I can't avoid that fact. But there's nothing legally within our power to do that I'm, aware of that we haven't done, Your Honor.

Sep. 8 Tr. pp. 6-7. The court responded, "That's the risk they take. I'm going to - - \$2,500 today and \$2,500 in 90 days."

On September 29, 2015, the court issued a Final Order for Estreatment of Bond ordering payment by the surety the sum of \$5,000. On October 14, 2015, counsel for Christy Nimau and Georgia-Carolina Enterprises, Inc. filed a "Motion to Reconsider 9.29.15 Final Order for Estreatment of Bond." The court subsequently held a hearing on the motion for reconsideration on November 10, 2015. On December 28, 2015, the court issued an Order Denying Surety's Motion for Reconsideration. In his order, the trial judge outlined the Polk factors and emphasized the fact that he considered them at both the hearing for the Final Order of Estreatment of Bond and at the hearing of the surety's Motion for Reconsideration. R. p. \*. The circuit court ordered:

The Court found that the purpose of bond was to assure the Defendant's appearance in court, that the Defendant's failure to appear in court was willful, that Surety presented no mitigation or explanation justifying the Defendant's failure to appear at the March 16, 2015 Term of General Sessions Court, and that while there may not have been expense to the State at this time, that fact does not foreclose the possibility of future expense. Likewise, the Court considered the extensive efforts made by the Surety to recover the Defendant, but found remission proper regardless.

R. p. \*. The court also found:

As to Surety's second argument that the Court erred in failing to consider the lack of effort by law enforcement to locate the Defendant, the Court finds that law enforcement bore no responsibility for insuring the Defendant's appearance at the March 16, 2015 Term of General Sessions Court and has entered information in the National Crime Information Center (NCIC) to alert law enforcement nationwide of her pending bench warrant.

R. p. \*.

Georgia-Carolina Enterprises, Inc. timely filed a notice of appeal and subsequently submitted a brief. This Brief of Respondent follows.

## ARGUMENT

### I.

**The circuit court properly estreated the defendant's bond where the defendant willfully failed to appear at the March 16, 2015 term of General Sessions, and the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in estreating the bond in full where the court carefully considered the required factors and where the amount of bond estreated was not arbitrary or capricious.**

Appellant asserts the trial judge erred by failing to consider the lack of costs to the state and the lack of efforts of law enforcement to locate the defendant when estreating the bond in full. This argument lacks merit, as the trial judge properly weighed the Polk factors in determining that estreating the bond in the amount of the full \$5,000 was proper. Furthermore, the defendant was in the constructive custody of the bond company, therefore the State bore no responsibility for assuring her appearance at the March 2015 term of General Sessions.

The overriding purpose of requiring a criminal defendant to post bond before his release from custody is to insure his appearance at trial. State v. Boatwright, 310 S.C. 281, 285, 432 S.E.2d 139, 141 (1992). (Toal, J., dissenting). “[T]he State's right to estreatment or forfeiture of a bail bond issued in a criminal case arises from the contract, *i.e.*, the bail bond form signed by the parties.” State v. McClinton, 369 S.C. 167, 171, 631 S.E.2d 895, 897 (2006). As guarantor, the surety on an appearance bond undertakes the risk of forfeiture in the event the defendant does not appear for trial. Pride v. Anders, 266 S.C. 338, 341, 223 S.E.2d 184, 186 (1976).

“The issue of whether a bond forfeiture should be remitted, and if so, to what extent, is vested in the discretion of the trial judge.” Ex parte Polk, 354 S.C. 8, 11, 579 S.E.2d 329, 330 (Ct. App. 2003). “[T]he exercise of that discretion by the trial judge will

not be set aside unless it is made to appear that it was abused.” State v. Holloway, 262 S.C. 552, 555, 206 S.E.2d 822, 823 (1974). “Among the factors to be considered in determining whether and to what extent relief will be granted are (1) the purpose of the bond; (2) the nature and willfulness of the default; [and] (3) any prejudice or additional expense resulting to the State.” State v. Workman, 274 S.C. 341, 343, 263 S.E.2d 865, 866 (1980). See also Polk, 354 S.C. 8, 13, 579 S.E.2d 329, 331 (Finding that while the decision regarding remission is within the discretion of the trial court, the court should consider, at a minimum, the costs to the State as well as the purpose of the bond and the nature and willfulness of the default in determining whether, and to what extent, a bond forfeiture should be remitted). “If bond is forfeited because of ignorance or unavoidable impediment rather than willful default, the trial court may, on affidavit showing cause or excuse, remit the forfeiture in full or in part.” Boatwright, 310 S.C. 281, 283, 423 S.E.2d 139, 140 (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 17-15-180 (1985)).

Firstly, as to Appellant’s contention that the trial judge failed to consider the lack of costs to the State in estreating the bond in full, the circuit court’s Order Denying Surety’s Motion for Reconsideration clearly considers all three Polk factors, including the cost to the State. The court’s Order makes clear that there have been no costs to the State as of yet, however the Order notes that the current lack of costs does not foreclose the possibility of future costs to the state. Seeing as the lack of costs was one of the three required factors the circuit court considered in its determination whether and to what extent to estreat the bond, Appellant’s argument that the trial judge failed to consider the lack of costs to the state is wholly without merit.

Secondly, as to Appellant's contention that the circuit court erred in failing to consider the lack of efforts of law enforcement to locate the defendant, the circuit court properly found that law enforcement bore no responsibility for ensuring the defendant's appearance at the March 16, 2015 term of General Sessions. "While the defendant is released on bail, he is in the constructive custody of the bondsman. The bondsman always has the authority to physically remand the defendant to the custody of the jurisdiction holding the bond and relieve himself from the obligation under the bond." Boatwright, 310 S.C. 281, 286, 423 S.E.2d 139, 142 (Toal, J., dissenting). Seeing as the defendant is in the constructive custody of the bondsman, the obligation is thus on the part of the bondman to ensure the defendant appears for trial. While Appellant's efforts in pursuing the defendant are admirable, their efforts do not absolve them of liability for the defendant's failure to appear in court; nor do their efforts impose some obligation on the State to intercede when they have failed to locate the defendant for trial. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in finding law enforcement bore no responsibility for insuring the defendant's appearance at the March 16, 2015 term of General Sessions and the State took sufficient action by entering the defendant's information in NCIC to alert law enforcement nationwide of her pending arrest. Appellant places great emphasis on the State's decision to restrict NCIC extradition to North Carolina, South Carolina, and Georgia, arguing the State should have borne the cost of extradition from California and then sought forfeiture of the bond to cover those costs. Yet this argument ignores two crucial considerations. First, the bond was only for \$5,000 and extradition from California would easily exceed that amount. Second, the State is not the surety that

guaranteed the defendant's appearance-the bond company did. Thus, the focus on the NCIC extradition restrictions is not germane.

Appellant seems to rely on S.C. Code Ann. § 38-53-70 to support his assertion that the Court should consider a lack of efforts by law enforcement in determining whether to remit a judgment. Appellant's reliance on § 38-53-70 is misplaced. S.C. Code Ann. § 38-53-70 provides:

If a defendant fails to appear at a court proceeding to which he has been summoned, the court shall issue a bench warrant for the defendant. The court shall make available for pickup by the surety or the representative of the surety who executed the bond on their behalf, a true copy of the bench warrant within seven days of its issuance at the clerk of court's office. If the surety fails to surrender the defendant or place a hold on the defendant's release from incarceration, commitment, or institutionalization within ninety days of the issuance of the bench warrant, the bond is forfeited. At any time before execution is issued on a judgment of forfeiture against a defendant or his surety, the court may direct that the judgment be remitted in whole or in part, upon conditions as the court may impose, if it appears that justice requires the remission of part or all of the judgment. In making a determination as to remission of the judgment, the court shall consider the costs to the State or a county or municipality resulting from the necessity to continue or terminate the defendant's trial and the efforts of law enforcement officers or agencies to locate the defendant.

Appellant interprets § 38-53-70 as permitting the court to consider a lack of law enforcement assistance in securing the defendant as a factor in whether to remit the bond. However the statutory language, "the court shall consider the costs to the State or a county or municipality resulting from the necessity to continue or terminate the defendant's trial and the efforts of law enforcement officers or agencies to locate the defendant," clearly indicates an intent for the court to consider relevant costs to the State, including the efforts and expenditures made by law enforcement in trying to secure the defendant. Appellant's attempt to read in a requirement that law enforcement assist the

bondsman in securing the defendant or the State faces remission of the bond is inconsistent with the purpose of bond and inconsistent with the statutory language. Instead, the logical interpretation supports the conclusion that efforts and expenditures made by law enforcement in trying to secure the defendant are simply one of the costs the court may consider.

Appellant's contentions that the trial judge erred in failing to consider the lack of costs to the state and lack of errors of law enforcement to locate the defendant are thus without merit, as the trial judge's order demonstrates that he did in fact consider those factors in determining estreatment of the full amount was proper. The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in estreating the full amount and declining to remit the bond amount in full or in part. The judgment of the trial judge should be affirmed.

**CONCLUSION**

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment of the lower court be affirmed.